

Government of Canada Gouvernement du Canada

Veterans Ombudsman des vétérans

Government of Canada Veterans Veterans Ombudaman

Ombudsman

VETERANS OMBUDSMAN

MARCH 2017

VETERANS OMBUDSMAN ACTUARIAL ANALYSIS | JUNE 2013

IMPROVING THE NEW VETERANS CHARTER THE ACTUARIAL ANALYSIS

The Actuarial Analysis Follow-up Report

Canadä



Office of the Veterans Ombudsman

360 Albert Street, Suite 1560 Ottawa, Ontario K1R 7X7

Toll-free: 1-877-330-4343

Email: info@ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca Facebook: Canada's Veterans Ombudsman Twitter: @VetsOmbudsman

This publication is available in electronic format at www.ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca.

Cette publication est aussi disponible en français au lien ci-haut.

V104-5/2-2017E-PDF 978-0-660-08098-7

TABLE OF CONTENTS

MESSAGE FROM THE OMBUDSMAN
VETERANS OMBUDSMAN'S MANDATE
VETERANS BILL OF RIGHTS
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
INTRODUCTION
METHODOLOGY
BACKGROUND
EVOLUTION OF VETERANS' FINANCIAL BENEFITS - 2006 TO PRESENT
Enhanced New Veterans Charter Act (2011)13
Amendments to the Canadian Forces Members and Veterans Re-establishment and Compensation Act (2015)
Amendments to the <i>Canadian Forces Members and Veterans Re-establishment and Compensation Act</i> (2016)14
ACTUARIAL ANALYSIS
Veterans Affairs Canada Clients17
Scenario Descriptions
Overview of Scenario Analysis – Totally and Permanently Incapacitated
Scenario Analysis – Veterans Who Are Totally and Permanently Incapacitated 21
Summary of the Effect of the Improvements to the NVC Veterans Who Are Totally and Permanently Incapacitated
Scenario Analysis – Veterans Who Are Not Totally and Permanently Incapacitated 27
Lifetime Totals Versus Annual Totals
SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS
RECOMMENDATIONS
CONCLUSION

MESSAGE FROM THE OMBUDSMAN

I am pleased to publish *The Actuarial Analysis Follow-up Report*. Its purpose is to update my 2013 *Actuarial Analysis* and evaluate the improvements to the New Veterans Charter since 2013.

The five scenarios analyzed in 2013, which assessed the financial impact of benefits, have been reviewed and updated based on the changes to the New Veterans Charter (NVC) suite of programs since 2013. As well, three new scenarios have been added, including two scenarios of Veterans who have not been deemed to be totally and permanently incapacitated (TPI) and one scenario of a surviving spouse.

I make four recommendations that I encourage the Minister of Veterans Affairs and Veterans Affairs Canada (VAC) to implement in a timely manner.

Guy Parent Veterans Ombudsman

VETERANS OMBUDSMAN'S MANDATE

The Office of the Veterans Ombudsman (OVO), created by Order in Council, works to ensure that Veterans, serving members of the Canadian Armed Forces (CAF) and the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP), as well as other clients of VAC, are treated respectfully, in accordance with the *Veterans Bill of Rights*, and receive the services and benefits that they require in a fair, timely and efficient manner.

The Veterans Ombudsman is an independent and impartial officer who is committed to ensuring that Veterans and other clients of VAC are treated fairly. The Veterans Ombudsman measures fairness in terms of: adequacy, sufficiency and accessibility.

The OVO addresses complaints, emerging and systemic issues related to programs and services provided or administered by VAC, as well as systemic issues related to the Veterans Review and Appeal Board.

VETERANS BILL OF RIGHTS

The Veterans Bill of Rights applies to all clients of Veterans Affairs. It states:

"You have the right to:

- Be treated with respect, dignity, fairness and courtesy.
- Take part in discussions that involve you and your family.
- Have someone with you for support when you deal with Veterans Affairs.
- Receive clear, easy-to-understand information about our programs and services, in English or French, as set out in the Official Languages Act.
- Have your privacy protected as set out in the *Privacy Act*.
- Receive benefits and services as set out in our published service standards and to know your appeal rights.



You have the right to make a complaint and have the matter looked into if you feel that any of your rights have not been upheld."

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report evaluates the changes that were made to the NVC financial benefits since the 2013 OVO Report: *Improving the New Veterans Charter: The Report* and its accompanying Review: *Improving the New Veterans Charter: The Actuarial Analysis*. This updated actuarial analysis looks at the current suite of NVC financial benefits, considering the effects of eight different scenarios on lifetime compensation for Veterans. The scenarios include the five scenarios from the 2013 report of Veterans who are deemed TPI and three new scenarios: two scenarios of Veterans who are not TPI and one survivor scenario.

The key findings of this Report are:

- Four new benefits and eight enhancements to the NVC were implemented, resulting in additional complexity. Communicating and administering the intricacies and interrelationships of these benefits to Veterans and their families has been challenging.
- The increase to the Earnings Loss Benefit has had the most significant effect on NVC recipients in that it increases lifetime compensation for the greatest number of Veterans including those that are TPI, non-TPI and survivors.
- The Permanent Impairment Allowance (PIA) and PIA Supplement (PIA-S) contribute significantly to the lifetime compensation for Veterans who are TPI.
- New benefits such as the Family Caregiver Relief Benefit (FCRB), the Critical Injury Benefit (CIB) and the Retirement Income Security Benefit (RISB), while improving the financial situation for some Veterans, have a limited impact on the broader Veteran population, as few Veterans are eligible for these benefits.
- It is unclear whether the needs of Veterans who are not TPI are being met.
- While lifetime compensation to survivors has increased more under the NVC than under the *Pension Act* (5 percent more after tax), compensation after age 65 has not been studied to determine if the annual dollar values are meeting the financial needs of survivors.
- Both lifetime and annual compensation totals are important. When you receive the compensation is as important as *how much* you receive. While the value of the lifetime total may be adequate, depending on when the Veteran receives these payments, there may be times when compensation does not fully meet the Veteran's, or their family's financial needs.

To better address the needs of Veterans, the Minister of Veterans Affairs and the Department of Veterans Affairs must review and assess the current financial benefits to reduce complexity and ensure that the needs of Veterans who are not TPI, and all survivors, receive the financial benefits they require over their lifetime, and more specifically, when they are required.

This report concludes that VAC has made a number of improvements to the NVC suite of financial benefits since the 2013 Actuarial Report; however, there remain areas requiring further

review and improvement. As a result, the Veteran's Ombudsman makes the following recommendations:

- Recommendation 1: That the Minister of Veterans Affairs, by 1 April 2019, consolidate financial benefits to reduce complexity and better address the financial needs of Veterans and survivors.
- Recommendation 2: That VAC assess the level of financial support it provides to Veterans who are not TPI to ensure that their financial needs are being met and publish the results of that assessment by 1 April 2018.
- Recommendation 3: That VAC assess the level of financial support it provides to survivors to ensure that their lifelong financial needs are being met and publish the results of that assessment by 1 April 2018.
- **Recommendation 4**: That VAC review when financial benefits are being delivered to Veterans and their survivors to ensure that their financial needs are being met and publish by 1 April 2018 the benchmarks used to measure that financial support.

Implementing these recommendations will make a positive difference in ensuring that ill or injured Veterans and their families receive the lifetime financial compensation they need and deserve as a result of their service and sacrifice to Canada.

INTRODUCTION

The federal government enacted the *Canadian Forces Members and Veterans Re-establishment and Compensation Act*¹ (commonly referred to as the New Veterans Charter (NVC)) in 2006 with the intent to support the changing needs of Veterans. The introduction of the NVC shifted the focus from disability in the *Pension Act*², to encouraging wellness and rehabilitation; consistent with the principles of modern disability management.³

At the time the NVC was enacted, these changes were viewed as controversial by some in the Veterans' community.⁴ One of the concerns raised was that the financial benefits in the NVC were inferior to those provided under the *Pension Act*, when comparing the NVC Disability Award amounts with estimates of what could have been received through a monthly disability pension under the *Pension Act*.

The OVO recognized that an anecdotal comparison of the Disability Award versus the Disability Pension, did not fully consider the complete suite of benefits and programs contained in the NVC. As a result, in 2013 an evidence-based framework was developed, and to further the discussion, a four-part series about the benefits available under the NVC was published.⁵ This evidence-based analysis showed that the financial needs of many Veterans were not being met.

Since the 2013 Veterans Ombudsman Report: *Improving the New Veterans Charter: The Report*⁶ and its accompanying *Actuarial Analysis*⁷, incremental changes have been made to the NVC.

The purpose of this follow-up report is to evaluate the changes that have been made to the NVC financial benefits since 2013, and to conduct an actuarial analysis of the suite of NVC financial benefits, considering the effects of lifetime compensation for Veterans. To do so, the following documents were reviewed:

¹ Canadian Forces Members and Veterans Re-establishment and Compensation Act. S.C.2005, c. 21. Source: <u>http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/C-16.8</u>

² Pension Act (R.S.C., 1985, c. P-6). Source: <u>http://laws.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/p-6/index.html</u>

³ Veterans Ombudsman (2013), *Improving the New Veterans Charter: The Actuarial Analysis*, p. 4. Source: <u>http://www.ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca/eng/reports/reports-reviews/improving-nvc-actuarial-analysis#b</u>

⁴ Ibid.

⁵ Veterans Ombudsman (2013), *Improving the New Veterans Charter: The Actuarial Analysis*, p. 3. Source: <u>http://www.ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca/eng/reports/reports-reviews/improving-nvc-actuarial-analysis#b</u>

[.] http://www.ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca/eng/reports/reports-reviews/improving-nvc-actuarial-analysis

⁶ Veterans Ombudsman (2013), *Improving the New Veterans Charter: the Report*. Source: <u>http://www.ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca/eng/reports/reports-reviews/improving-new-veterans-charter</u>

⁷ Veterans Ombudsman (2013), *Improving the New Veterans Charter: The Actuarial Analysis*. Source: <u>http://www.ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca/eng/reports/reports-reviews/improving-nvc-actuarial-analysis</u>

- OVO reports and recommendations related to improving NVC financial benefits;
- An independent report (*Risk Assessment Benchmark of Benefits for Disabled Veterans under the New Veterans Charter*) prepared by Aon Hewitt for the OVO⁸, which provides an analysis of Veterans benefits in comparison with other long-term disability plans in Canada; and
- The *Pension Act* and NVC legislation and regulations, and VAC policies pertaining to compensation for both economic and non-economic loss, including changes to the NVC financial benefits since 2013.

⁸ The independent review was conducted by Aon Hewitt Canada which offers a range of sophisticated advisory and consulting services in risk control and risk management, reinsurance, and human capital. The company designs, structures and implements solutions that may involve traditional insurance products or risk-transfer programs, alternative financing techniques, or entirely new products to address a specific problem. Source: <u>http://www.aon.com/default.jsp</u>

METHODOLOGY

The OVO 2013 actuarial analysis examined the lifetime compensation provided by VAC financial benefits using five scenarios. This report includes these scenarios and three additional scenarios to illustrate the effects of the current NVC financial benefits, including the changes made since 2013. More specifically, this report:

- updates the 2013 five TPI⁹ scenarios to reflect the changes to the suite of NVC financial benefits;
- includes three new scenarios two examples of Veterans who are non-TPI and one example of a surviving spouse;
- calculates, for comparison purposes, all benefits based on the date of release;
- considers the effect of taxation;
- provides a lifetime compensation total, including both economic and non-economic financial benefits for each scenario;
- considers both economic and non-economic financial benefits in the modeling of lifetime compensation;¹⁰ and
- does not include other government programs as Canadian Forces Superannuation,
 Canada Pension Plan, Old Age Security or Guaranteed Income Supplement.

This analysis does not examine the adequacy of the benefits in meeting the financial needs of Veterans.

⁹Totally and Permanently Incapacitated (TPI) means that the Veteran is incapacitated by a permanent physical or mental health problem that prevents him/her from performing any occupation that would be considered suitable gainful employment. Source: http://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/about-us/policy/document/1971#anchor45276

¹⁰ Veterans Ombudsman (2016) Fair Compensation to Veterans and their Survivors for Pain and Suffering, p. 7. Source: http://www.ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca/pdfs/reports/Pain-Suffering-Report-ENG.pdf

BACKGROUND

In 2013, the OVO produced an evidence based framework and a four-part series about the financial benefits available under the NVC.¹¹ The two key reports in this series, *Improving the New Veterans Charter: The Report*¹² and its accompanying *Actuarial Analysis*¹³, provided evidence-based analysis to show that the financial needs of many Veterans were not being met. The report made eight recommendations related to financial support for improvement, and the actuarial analysis provided demographic and financial data on the effects of the programs.

In June 2014, the OVO published a report that examined two NVC financial support benefits provided to the most severely impaired Veterans: *Supporting Severely Impaired Veterans: A Report on the New Veterans Charter Permanent Impairment Allowance and Permanent Impairment Allowance Supplement.*¹⁴ This report made four recommendations to improve access to PIA and the PIA-S for Veterans who suffer from any service-related permanent and severe impairment that affects their employment and career progression opportunities, and their survivor.

In 2016, the OVO published *Fair Compensation to Veterans and their Survivors for Pain and Suffering,* which assessed the fairness of compensation provided under the NVC¹⁵ for noneconomic loss. The report provides details on the non-economic benefits provided by VAC to CAF members, Veterans, and their survivors to compensate for the effects of service-related disability and death. Also, it compares these benefits to what other Canadians would receive, either through federal and provincial/territorial programs, such as Worker's Compensation Boards or through the Canadian courts for personal injury. This report makes three recommendations.

Image 1 outlines the status of the OVO recommendations related to NVC financial benefits.

¹¹ Veterans Ombudsman (2013), *Improving the New Veterans Charter: the Report*. Source: <u>http://www.ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca/eng/reports/reports-reviews/improving-nvc-actuarial-analysis</u>

¹² Veterans Ombudsman (2013), *Improving the New Veterans Charter: The Actuarial Analysis*. Source: <u>http://www.ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca/eng/reports/reports-reviews/improving-new-veterans-charter</u>

¹³ Veterans Ombudsman (2014), Supporting Severely Impaired Veterans: A Report on the New Veterans Charter Permanent Impairment Allowance and Permanent Impairment Allowance Supplement. Source: <u>http://www.ombudsman-</u> <u>veterans.gc.ca/eng/reports/reports-reviews/improving-nvc-actuarial-analysis</u>

¹⁴ Veterans Ombudsman (2016) Fair Compensation to Veterans and their Survivors for Pain and Suffering. Source: http://www.ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca/eng/reports/reports-reviews/supporting-impaired-veterans

¹⁵ <u>Aon Hewitt (2016), Risk Assessment - Benchmark of Benefits for Disabled Veterans under the New Veterans Charter. Source:</u> http://www.ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca/eng/reports/reports-reviews/fair-compensation-veterans-pain-suffering

Image 1 (Part 1) – Implementation Status of OVO Recommendations Related to NVC Financial Benefits

	Imple	mented Partially Implemented Not Implemented	
Year	Report	Recommendation	Status
2013	Improving the New Veterans Charter: the Report	Financial Support – Economic Benefits 1. Providing additional financial support after age 65 to eligible totally and permanently incapacitated Veterans to ensure that their monthly benefits are no less than 70 percent of their indexed pre-release salary;	
	IMPROVING THE NEW VETERANS CHARTER THE SECONT	2. Increasing the Earnings Loss Benefit to 90 percent of pre-release salary	•
	NO.	3. Providing the same Earnings Loss Benefit to former part-time Reserve Force members whose injury or illness is related to service	•
	Canadă	4. Calculating the annual cost of living adjustment to the Earnings Loss Benefit based on actual annual increases in the cost of living as measured by the Consumer Price Index	•
		5. Providing the Permanent Impairment Allowance and Permanent Impairment Allowance Supplement benefits to all totally and permanently incapacitated Veterans who are in receipt of a Disability Award and an approved rehabilitation plan for the condition that is causing the total and permanent incapacity	
		Financial Support – Non Economic Benefits 1. As a first step, increasing the maximum amount of the Disability Award to the maximum judicial cap for non-pecuniary damages awarded by Canadian courts	•
		2. Conducting a comprehensive review, including consultations with Veterans' stakeholders, to determine what the appropriate maximum amount should be to fairly compensate Canadian Armed Forces members and Veterans for pain and suffering resulting from an injury or illness in service to Canada	•
		3. Reviewing the adequacy of the \$500 provided for financial counselling	\bigotimes

Image 1 (Part 2) – Implementation Status of OVO Recommendations Related to NVC Financial Benefits

	Imple	mented Partially Implemented Not Implemented	
Year	Report	Recommendation	Status
Impaired Veterans: A Report on the Ne Veterans Charter Permanent Impairme Allowance and	Permanent Impairment	1. That the Minister of Veterans Affairs amends section 40 of the <i>Canadian Forces Members and Veterans Re-establishment and Compensation Regulations</i> to include, "other permanent and severe injury or illness that affect employment and career progression opportunities" in the definition of a permanent and severe impairment.	•
	Supplement	2. That the Minister and the Department of Veterans Affairs amend relevant Permanent Impairment Allowance regulations and policy to include specific loss of earning capacity criteria to ensure alignment between the determination of the extent of impairment and the objective of the allowance.	\bigotimes
	SEVERELY IMPAIRED VETERANS Ammend to regulation criteria character	3. That the Minister and the Department of Veterans Affairs amend the Permanent Impairment Allowance policy and the relevant regulations so that the assignment of grade levels is based on specific criteria (including the number of working years affected) that characterize the impact of a permanent and severe impairment on loss of employment and career progression opportunities.	\bigotimes
		4. That the Minister of Veterans Affairs amends legislation to provide the Permanent Impairment Allowance and the Supplement to a survivor at the full rate for a period of one year following the death of the Veteran, if the Veteran was in receipt of the benefits at the time of death.	\bigotimes
2016	Fair Compensation to Veterans and their Survivors for Pain and Suffering	1. That the Minister of Veterans Affairs provide compensation to Veterans and their survivors under the NVC to recognize for the non-economic effects of exceptional incapacity.	\bigotimes
	Far coupersation For otteases and for an another set of the set of	2. That Veterans Affairs Canada develop new eligibility criteria for the non-economic benefit that compensates for exceptional incapacity (i.e. criteria that are not based on a specific minimum disability percentage).	\bigotimes
		3. That the Minister of Veterans Affairs amend NVC legislation and regulations to permit a single CAF member with no dependent children to designate a family member to apply for and receive the Death Benefit.	Ø

EVOLUTION OF VETERANS' FINANCIAL BENEFITS - 2006 TO PRESENT

In response to recommendations from the Veterans Ombudsman as well as Veterans, Veterans' organizations and Parliamentarians, the first changes to the NVC took place in 2011 with the implementation of the *Enhanced New Veterans Charter Act*. In 2015, *The Support for Veterans and Their Families Act* brought further improvements, and in 2016, *An Act to Amend the Canadian Forces Members and Veterans Re-establishment and Compensation Act* was implemented which included additional improvements. The VAC website¹⁶ provides additional information on the changes made in each iteration. The following is a summary of these improvements.

Enhanced New Veterans Charter Act (2011)

- improved ELB by establishing a minimum pre-tax income of \$40,000 a year for all ill or injured Veterans in the rehabilitation program or, if they are unable to be suitably and gainfully employed again, until age 65;
- improved access to the PIA and the Exceptional Incapacity Allowance (EIA) for seriously injured Veterans;
- introduced a monthly \$1,000 supplement to the PIA, payable for life to help the most seriously ill or injured Veterans who are unable to be suitably, gainfully employed; and
- provided flexible payment options for receiving a Disability Award.

Amendments to the Canadian Forces Members and Veterans Re-establishment and Compensation Act (2015)

 introduced the Critical Injury Benefit (CIB)¹⁷ benefit, a non-taxable lump-sum award of \$70,000 (indexed annually - the 2017 rate is \$71,831.76), provided to CAF members and Veterans who, after March 31, 2006, sustained a service-related severe and traumatic injury or developed an acute disease caused by a sudden and single incident which resulted in an immediate and severe impairment and interference in quality of life;

¹⁶ Veterans Affairs Canada's Official Website (last consulted on 24 February, 2017). *Services*. Source : <u>http://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/services</u>

¹⁷ Veterans Affairs Canada's Official Website (last consulted on 24 February, 2017). *Critical Injury Benefit*. Source : <u>http://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/services/after-injury/critical-injury-benefit</u>

- introduced the Retirement Income Security Benefit (RISB),¹⁸ a monthly taxable benefit that begins at age 65 and tops up an eligible Veteran's total annual income to at least 70 percent of what they received in financial benefits from VAC before age 65. The RISB is also available to Veterans eligible for SISIP LTD benefits who are totally disabled and are entitled to the Disability Award or Disability Pension. Survivors may also be eligible for RISB in certain cases;
- introduced the Family Caregiver Relief Benefit (FCRB),¹⁹ an annual tax-free grant of \$7,238, to allow an informal caregiver to take time off and recharge, or attend to their own health and well-being, while the Veteran's needs are still being provided for in his or her absence;
- expanded eligibility to the PIA. The definition of severe and permanent impairment was broadened (severe and permanent limitation in mobility or self-care) so that more permanently impaired Veterans can access the PIA; and
- expanded ELB to part-time Reservists to ensure they receive the same minimum income support payment as full-time Regular Force Veterans.

Amendments to the Canadian Forces Members and Veterans Re-establishment and Compensation Act (2016)

- increased the Disability Award and Death Benefit. These benefits will increase to a maximum of \$360,000 starting in 2017 and will be indexed in accordance with changes to Consumer Price Index. Based on this increase, Veterans who received a Disability Award between April 1, 2006, and March 31, 2017 will receive an additional payment. This payment represents the total difference between the Disability Award amounts previously paid and what would have been paid if a higher rate had existed between April 1, 2006 and March 31, 2017;
- increased ELB from 75 to 90 percent of gross pre-release military salary for ill or injured Veterans, participating in VAC's rehabilitation or vocational assistance program, or who cannot engage in suitable and gainful employment. Veterans covered under the Service Income Security Insurance Plan Long Term Disability (SISIP LTD) program may have their income replacement topped up provided that they apply and are determined eligible for VAC's Rehabilitation Services and Vocational Assistance Program and the ELB. The indexation of ELB is no longer capped at 2 percent and will keep pace with inflation. The calculation of the minimum benefit is now based on a senior Private's salary instead of a basic Corporal's salary; and

¹⁸ Veterans Affairs Canada's Official Website (last consulted on 24 February, 2017). *Retirement Income Security Benefit*. Source : Source : <u>http://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/services/financial/retirement-income-security-benefit</u>

¹⁹ Veterans Affairs Canada's Official Website (last consulted on 24 February, 2017). *Family Caregiver Relief Benefit*. Source : Source: http://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/services/health/family-caregiver-relief-benefit

 expanded access to the three grade levels of PIA by introducing an individual assessment which will measure the impact a service-related impairment has on a Veteran's career advancement opportunities, and will consider years of service. The benefit will be renamed to the Career Impact Allowance (CIA) to better reflect the intent of the program.

Image 2 shows the evolution of Veterans financial benefits.

Image 2 - Evolution of V	eterans Financial Benefits ²⁰
--------------------------	--

Pre-NVC	NVC 2006	NVC 2011	NVC 2015	NVC 2016	Number of Recipients ²¹
SISIP LTD - 75% of gross pre-release salary (2% cap per year)	This is a CAF benefit and is still available post NVC				Information not available on number of recipients
Disability Pension					69,739
Exceptional Incapacity Allowance					1,491
Attendance Allowance					7,096
War Veterans Allowance					404
	ELB - 75% of gross pre-release salary with min. salary provision of senior private (2% cap per year)	ELB - 75% of gross pre-release salary with min. salary provision increased to basic corporal (2% cap per year)	ELB - All Reserve Force Veterans who are eligible for ELB receive a min. salary provision of basic corporal. The same min. amount a Regular Force Veteran would receive	ELB - 90% of gross pre-release salary with min. salary provision of senior private and 2% cap removed	5,746
	Disability Award / Death Benefit - \$250,000 max indexed to inflation	Disability Award - provided choice of lump sum or annual payments or combination		Disability Award / Death Benefit - increased to max \$360,000	Disability Award 55,698 Death Benefit 431
	ΡΙΑ	PIA - provided access to certain Veterans in receipt of a Disability Pension	PIA - increased access by broadening the definition of severe and permanent impairment	PIA renamed to CIA	3,743
		PIA-S introduced			2,482
			CIB introduced		117 (cumulative)
			FCRB introduced		178
	Supplementary Retirement Benefit				82 (cumulative)
	Canadian Forces Income Support				55
			RISB introduced		43 ²²

²⁰ For more information on these VAC Benefits, visit: <u>http://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/services</u>.

²¹ Source: VAC Facts and Figures - March 2016. Number of recipients includes only Veterans.

²² The number of RISB recipients will increase with time. As the benefit has only recently been implemented, it is too early to evaluate the overall impact of the RISB.

ACTUARIAL ANALYSIS

The 2013 report, *Improving the New Veterans Charter: The Report*, was accompanied by *Improving the New Veterans Charter: The Actuarial Analysis*, in which the OVO examined how the NVC financial benefits impacted the most seriously ill and injured Veterans and their families. This group of Veterans was deemed to be most at financial risk.²³

Veterans Affairs Canada Clients

Image 3 provides a summary of the number and percentage of CAF Veterans receiving VAC financial benefits and their level of disability. The majority of CAF Veterans are not receiving benefits from VAC, and VAC clients represent only 14 percent of the total Veteran population. VAC CAF clients that have a disability assessment of less than 33 percent represents approximately 72 percent of VAC's client population. Image 3 also highlights that those Veterans deemed TPI represents four percent of VAC clients. The 2013 actuarial analysis did not include Veterans who were not TPI - the largest VAC client group. This analysis includes two scenarios of Veterans who are not TPI, as well as a survivor scenario to better understand the impact of NVC financial benefits on a broader representation of VAC clients.

²³ Veterans Ombudsman (2013), *Improving the New Veterans Charter: The Actuarial Analysis*. Source: <u>http://www.ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca/eng/reports/reports-reviews/improving-nvc-actuarial-analysis</u>





²⁴ Source: VAC Facts and Figures - March 2016 edition and Statistics Directorate, Client Cube, March 2016, Tracker 47316 OVO TPI Cube, 05.21.04.11 Cube

Scenario Descriptions

The eight scenarios considered in this analysis represent a variety of ranks, years of service, levels of disability and resulting financial benefit eligibility; however, they do not cover every circumstance. Image 4 provides a brief description of each scenario.



Scenario	Description	Years of Service	
TPI Veterans			
1	24-year old Corporal with 80 percent disability	4	
2	47-year old Major with 100 percent disability	29	
3	30-year old Captain with 40 percent disability	10	
4	35-year old Sergeant with 95 percent disability	15	
5	40-year old Corporal with 50 percent disability	5	
Non-TPI Veterans			
6	44-year old Sergeant with 50 percent disability	24	
7	45-year old Captain with 25 percent disability	25	
Survivor			
8	41-year old survivor of CAF member	21	

Overview of Scenario Analysis – Totally and Permanently Incapacitated

As an update to the 2013 analysis, image 5 provides a comparison of the lifetime compensation received under the NVC in 2013 to the NVC in 2016, as well as to the *Pension Act* for each of the five TPI scenarios.





Since 2013, the improvements to the NVC have had the following overall effects for Veterans:

- The amount of lifetime compensation for some Veterans who are TPI has increased since 2013. Increasing ELB to 90 percent has had the greatest impact on lifetime compensation by affecting the largest number of Veterans; however, in only one scenario does the NVC financial benefits provide more lifetime compensation than what was achieved under the *Pension Act*.
- Multiple benefits create complexity. To achieve the increase in lifetime compensation under the 2016 NVC, four new benefits and eight enhancements were implemented. Each new benefit has different eligibility criteria, a separate application process, a different dollar value and different appeal rights. As a result, communicating and administering the intricacies and interrelationships of these benefits to Veterans and their families is challenging.

It is not clear whether the NVC financial benefit programs are meeting Veteran's needs. Many of the financial benefit programs do not have an easily understood and veteran-centric policy rationale and measurable benchmark. How does PIA Grade 3, the lowest level, at \$599.96 per month, compensate for career progression and lost job opportunity for a Corporal earning \$50,000 per year, with four years of service and who is no longer able to work? No assessment has been undertaken to determine if PIA is meeting Veteran's needs.

Scenario Analysis – Veterans Who Are Totally and Permanently Incapacitated

The following images illustrate the results of the actuarial analysis of the NVC improvements for each of the scenarios included in the 2013 report.

Scenario 1: Corporal, Age 24, with 80 Percent Disability and 4 Years of Service

This scenario represents a single, 24-year-old, male Veteran who is TPI, with an assessed disability level of 80 percent, and who was medically released at the rank of Corporal (salary of \$55,464), with four years of service. He has access to Grade 3 PIA and PIA-S. As he only has four years of service, he would not receive an immediate CAF Annuity.



Image 6 – Scenario 1

Findings:

The new benefits and improvements since 2013 have had a major impact on increasing lifetime compensation (37 percent after tax increase over 2013). This is due to the introduction of the FCRB, the RISB, and the ELB increase to 90 percent. The impact, however, of SRB and CIB is minimal on lifetime compensation (when combined they make up less than three percent of lifetime compensation).

Despite these improvements to the NVC, the *Pension Act* provides slightly more lifetime compensation (2 percent greater after tax than NVC). In this scenario the impact of the PIA and the PIA-S is significant, as these benefits provide 26 percent of the lifetime 2016 NVC totals.

Scenario 2: Major, Age 47, with 100 Percent Disability and 29 Years of Service

This scenario represents a 47-year-old, female Veteran, who is TPI, with an assessed disability level of 100 percent, married with one dependent child, who was medically released at the rank of Major (salary of \$110,640), with 29 years of service. This is a seriously disabled Veteran with access to Grade 1 PIA, the PIA-S, and an immediate, unreduced CAF Annuity.



Image 7 – Scenario 2

Findings:

In this scenario, the new benefits and improvements since 2013 have had a major impact on increasing lifetime compensation (35 percent after tax increase over 2013). This is due to the introduction of the FCRB, the CIB and the ELB increase to 90 percent. Because of the offset of the CAF Annuity, there is only a small effect of RISB on the total lifetime compensation. Even though the CAF Annuity amount has not been quantified and included in this analysis, it makes a significant contribution to the financial status of the Veteran post release.

Using the 2016 NVC benefits, the PIA and the PIA-S comprise 47 percent of lifetime compensation. Despite these improvements to the NVC, the *Pension Act* provides significantly more lifetime compensation (54 percent more after tax than NVC) due to receiving the EIA and

the Attendance Allowance at the highest rates. Note that this scenario represents the maximum a Veteran could receive.

Scenario 3: Captain, Age 30, with 40 Percent Disability and 10 Years of Service

This scenario represents a married 30-year-old male Veteran, who is TPI, with an assessed disability level of 40 percent, with one dependent child, who was medically released at the rank of Captain (salary of \$81,276), with 10 years of service. He receives Grade 3 PIA, the PIA-S, and a small but immediate, unreduced CAF Annuity.



Image 8 – Scenario 3

Findings:

Similar to the previous scenarios, the new benefits and improvements since 2013 have had a major impact on increasing lifetime compensation (47 percent after tax increase over 2013). This is due to the introduction of the FCRB, the RISB, and the ELB increase to 90 percent.

The PIA and the PIA-S account for 25 percent of lifetime compensation. Overall, with all the NVC improvements, the NVC provides more lifetime compensation (18 percent more after tax than the *Pension Act*), for this scenario.

Scenario 4: Sergeant with 95 Percent Disability and 15 Years of Service

This scenario represents a married 35-year-old male Veteran, who is TPI, with an assessed disability level of 95 percent, with one dependent child, who was medically released from the CAF at the rank of Sergeant (salary of \$63,720), with 15 years of service. This Veteran has access to Grade 3 PIA, the PIA-S and a modest, but immediate, unreduced CAF Annuity.





Findings:

Similar to scenarios 1 and 3, the new benefits and improvements since 2013 have had a major impact on increasing lifetime compensation (43 percent after tax increase over 2013). This is due to the introduction of the FCRB, the RISB, the CIB and the ELB increase to 90 percent; however, the impact of the SRB (1 percent) and the CIB (2 percent) is minimal on lifetime compensation.

The PIA and the PIA-S make up 28 percent of lifetime compensation. Despite the improvements to the NVC, the *Pension Act* provides more lifetime compensation (21 percent more after tax than NVC).

Scenario 5: Corporal, Age 40, with 50 Percent Disability and 5 Years of Service

This scenario represents a married 40-year-old female Veteran, who is TPI, with an assessed disability level of 50 percent, with one dependent child, who was medically released at the rank of Corporal (salary of \$56,286), with five years of service. Although this Veteran is TPI, she is not eligible for the PIA or PIA-S as she does meet the VAC definition of severely disabled. Also, with only five years of service, she would not receive an immediate CAF Annuity.





Findings:

In this scenario, the new benefits and improvements since 2013 have had a major impact on increasing lifetime compensation (66 percent after tax increase over 2013). The introduction of the RISB has had a major impact and represents 32 percent of the 2016 NVC lifetime total compensation.

Despite the improvements to the NVC, the *Pension Act* provides slightly more lifetime compensation (9 percent more after tax than NVC).

Summary of the Effect of the Improvements to the NVC Veterans Who Are Totally and Permanently Incapacitated

From 2013 to 2016, the improvements to the NVC have been focused and incremental. Their overall effect has been to increase the lifetime compensation for Veterans who are TPI and in receipt of NVC benefits:

- For all Veterans in the rehabilitation program and survivors, the ELB increase to 90 percent of pre-release salary has universal application. The increase in compensation as a result of the higher ELB rate impacts 5,746²⁵ Veterans and survivors;
- For those who are TPI and seriously disabled Veterans, the FCRB increases lifetime compensation. However, this impacts only 178²⁶ Veterans;
- The RISB has had a significant impact for those Veterans who are TPI and have either a small number of pensionable years of service or no CAF Annuity. The number of RISB recipients in 2016 was 43²⁷, representing a small number of the total 3,596²⁸ Veterans who are TPI;
- The CIB has had a limited effect in increasing the overall lifetime compensation, as it provides a one-time payment and only 117²⁹ Veterans received this benefit. Only two³⁰ CAF members per year are forecasted to receive the CIB; and
- For the most part, the *Pension Act* continues to provide greater lifetime compensation in the scenarios which the Veteran has a higher disability assessment.

Scenario Analysis – Veterans Who Are Not Totally and Permanently Incapacitated

In this report, two new scenarios were added to show the effects of the recent changes to the NVC on Veterans who are not TPI. This is the largest group of VAC CAF clients (96 percent) as shown in Image 3.

The following images illustrate the results of the actuarial analysis of the NVC improvements since 2013 for these two scenarios.

³⁰ Ibid.

²⁵ Source: VAC Facts and Figures March 2016 edition

²⁶ Ibid.

²⁷ The number of RISB recipients will increase with time. As the benefit has only recently been implemented, it is too early to evaluate the overall impact of the RISB.

²⁸ Source: VAC Facts and Figures March 2016 edition

²⁹ Ibid.

Scenario 6: Sergeant, Age 44, with 50 Percent Disability and 24 Years of Service

This scenario represents a 44-year old, male Veteran, with an assessed disability of 50 percent, who was medically released at the rank of Sergeant (salary of \$63,720), with 24 years of service. This Veteran would still be able to work. The VAC benefits provided include temporary ELB during the rehabilitation process and PIA at the lowest grade level, for lost job opportunities as a result of a severe impairment. He is also is in receipt of an immediate, unreduced CAF Annuity.



Image 11 – Scenario 6

Findings:

In this scenario, the only improvement since 2013 that is applicable is the ELB increase to 90 percent while participating in the vocational rehabilitation program. As a result, the impact on the overall lifetime compensation is minimal. However, PIA provides a significant contribution to the lifetime compensation, making up 65 percent of lifetime compensation.

Despite the improvements to the NVC, the *Pension Act* provides slightly more lifetime compensation (4 percent more after tax than NVC).

Not shown on the image is that the Veteran is in receipt of the CAF Annuity and is able to earn at least 66 2/3 percent of his pre-release salary. Also, even though the CAF Annuity amount has

not been quantified and included in this analysis, it makes a significant contribution to the financial status of the Veteran post release.

Some Veterans have an impairment that affects their earning capacity but they do not have a severe impairment that would entitle them to PIA. In this case, there is no lifetime compensation (PIA) provided for loss of job opportunities and career progression. Removing PIA from the above image reduces the lifetime compensation provided under the NVC significantly when compared to the *Pension Act*. In both cases, they have a diminished earning capacity, have been medically released and no longer have a military career.

Should a Veteran with a moderate impairment, impacting his ability to earn, receive some level of compensation to recognize this impact? For example, if this Veteran was earning \$75,000 on release and now can only work at a job that pays \$50,000, is there an obligation to top up the salary? If the Veteran finds a job that pays \$100,000, should the government continue to compensate for lost job opportunities and career progression? These questions suggest that the needs of Veterans who are not TPI are complex and the support provided to them should be clearly defined.

Scenario 7: Captain, Age 45, with 25 Percent Disability and 25 Years of Service

This scenario represents a 45-year old, male Veteran, with an assessed disability of 25 percent, who was medically released at the rank of Captain (salary of \$81,276), with 25 years of service and is still able to work. Like the preceding scenario, the Veteran received retraining with income replacement (ELB) for the duration of the rehabilitation process. He is also in receipt of an immediate, unreduced CAF Annuity.





Findings:

In this scenario, the lifetime compensation provided under the 2016 NVC is greater (18 percent) than what would have been provided in 2013 but the *Pension Act* still provides more lifetime compensation (50 percent more after tax than NVC).

In addition to the benefits presented in the image, the Veteran would be in receipt of a CAF Annuity and would be able to earn at least 66 2/3 percent of his pre-release salary. Even though the CAF Annuity amount has not been quantified and included in this analysis, it makes a significant contribution to the financial status of the Veteran post release.

Almost 75 percent of Veterans in receipt of VAC benefits fall into this category. If a Veteran was medically released with a service-related medical condition, is there any obligation to provide ongoing financial support once the Veteran is re-trained and is capable of working?

Scenario 8 - Survivor

This scenario represents the survivor of a Veteran with a service-related death at age 41, after 21 years of service. The survivor would receive an immediate, reduced survivor annuity from the CAF, which is deducted from both SISIP LTD, VAC ELB and RISB.



Image 13 – Scenario 8

Findings:

In this scenario, the lifetime compensation under the 2016 NVC is 23 percent greater after tax than in 2013, as a result of the ELB increase to 90 percent of pre-release salary and the RISB. The impact of the RISB is limited as the survivor is in receipt of a CAF Annuity which VAC uses as an offset to the RISB.

In general, service-related death survivors receive more in terms of lifetime compensation under the NVC than under the *Pension Act* (5 percent more after tax). This is mainly because these survivors receive ELB until the member would have reached age 65, regardless if the survivor remarries or earns additional income. However, if you compare the VAC financial benefits received post age 65, the *Pension Act* provides more financial support during this time.

Lifetime Totals Versus Annual Totals

It is important to examine both lifetime and annual financial totals because *when* you receive compensation is as important as *how much* you receive in most cases.

While the lifetime total compensation may be adequate, there may be times in the Veteran's life when the compensation does not meet the Veteran's financial needs. The following image depicts when benefits are paid to a Veteran and clearly illustrates that annual payments vary over time. In this example, the drop in annual compensation at age 65 and the impact of the implementation of RISB in 2016 is evident.





SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS

- Four new benefits and eight enhancements to the NVC were implemented, resulting in additional complexity. Communicating and administering the intricacies and interrelationships of these benefits to Veterans and their families has been challenging.
- The increase to the ELB has had the most significant effect on NVC recipients in that it increases lifetime compensation for the greatest number of Veterans including those who are TPI, not TPI and survivors.
- The PIA and PIA Supplement contribute significantly to the lifetime compensation for Veterans who are TPI.
- New benefits such as the FCRB, the CIB and the RISB, while improving the financial situation for some Veterans, have a limited impact on the broader Veteran population, as so few Veterans are eligible for these benefits.
- It is unclear whether the needs of Veterans who are not TPI are being met.
- While lifetime compensation to survivors has increased more under the NVC than under the *Pension Act* (5 percent more after tax), compensation after age 65 has not been studied to determine if the annual dollar values are meeting the financial needs of survivors.
- Both lifetime and annual compensation totals are important. When you receive the compensation is as important as how much you receive. While the value of the lifetime total may be adequate, depending on when the Veteran receives these payments, there may be times when compensation does not fully meet the Veteran's, or his/her family's financial needs.

RECOMMENDATIONS

This report illustrates that VAC has made a number of improvements to the NVC suite of financial benefits since the OVO's 2013 Actuarial Report. While there has been a resulting increase to lifetime compensation for all scenarios, there remain areas requiring further review and improvements. The following recommendations are submitted for immediate action:

Recommendation 1: That the Minister of Veterans Affairs, by 1 April 2019, consolidate financial benefits to reduce complexity and better address the financial needs of Veterans and survivors.

Recommendation 2: That VAC assess the level of financial support it provides to Veterans who are not TPI to ensure that their financial needs are being met and publish the results of that assessment by 1 April 2018.

Recommendation 3: That VAC assess the level of financial support it provides to survivors to ensure that their lifelong financial needs are being met and publish the results of that assessment by 1 April 2018.

Recommendation 4: That VAC review when financial benefits are being delivered to Veterans and their survivors to ensure that their financial needs are being met and publish by 1 April 2018 the benchmarks used to measure that financial support.

CONCLUSION

This report reviews, from an actuarial perspective, the impact of the changes made to the NVC financial benefits since the 2013 OVO Report: *Improving the New Veterans Charter: The Report* and its accompanying *Actuarial Analysis*. Since 2013, these changes have increased the lifetime compensation for many Veterans in receipt of benefits under the NVC for service-related illness or injury.

This report also shows that further NVC improvements are needed to streamline benefits and reduce complexity, as well as to ensure that the financial needs of Veterans who are not TPI and survivors of Veterans are being met.

Implementing the recommendations made in this report will make a difference in ensuring that ill or injured Veterans and their families receive the lifetime financial compensation they need and deserve as a result of their sacrifice and service to Canada.